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ROYAL OSTEOPOR.OSIS SOCIETY (Formerly National Osteoporosis Soeiety)
TRUSTEES' REPORT (eontinued)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER.2Ol8

1.O Introduction

The trustees present their report including the Strategic Report and the audited financial statements
for the Royal Osteoporosis Society, formerly National Osteoporosis Society, for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by
the revaluation of investments and in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities:
Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance
with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102)
(effective 1 January 2015) - (Charities SORP (FRS102)), the Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS102) and the Companies Act 2006.

2.O Objectives and Activities

The trustees have referred to the Charity Commission's general guidance on public benefit when
reviewing the charity's aims and objectives. The Memorandum of Association states that the
principal objects for which the charity exists and the company is established are:

. To relieve sickness and to promote and advance medical knowledge, with particular reference
to all aspects of osteoporosis and all similar and related conditions;

. To undertake research in relation thereto, and to publish the useful results of such research.

The activities undertaken to meet these objectives are outlined in our Strategic Direction.

3,O Public Benefit Statement

The trustees confirm that they have complied with the duty under section 17 of the Charities Act
2011 to have due regard to the Charity Commission's public benefit guidance when reviewing the
aims and objectives and in planning future activities. In particular the Trustees consider how
planned activities will contribute to the aims and objectives they have set. The public benefits from
our work through our information and educational resources, helpline, website and campaigning to
improve awareness and understanding of osteoporosis.

The Strategic Report provides an overall review of the significant activities undertaken by the
charity in order to achieve the charity's strategic aims and objectives for the public benefit, How
these activities are financed is outlined in the Financial Statements,

The charity recognises that our achievements are only made possible thanks to the amazing
generosity of our members and donors, and the invaluable contribution made by our volunteers,
support groups/ committee members, scientific advisors and employees,

Strategic Report
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ROyAt OSTEOPOROSIS SOCIETY (Formerly National Osteoporosis Society)

TR.USTEES" REPORT (continued)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMtsER 2018

Our vision: A future without osteoporosis

To achieve our aims, our work is underpinned by our prtnctples

Prevention
Our aims

Care Cu re

Lrstening and advocattng

Everyone has the best
E possrble bone healtho th.orghout therr lrfe

F vrdcncc and
understandrng

Partnersl'rtps,rtrtJ
colla bo ratto n

Everyone who breaks
a bone or rs at rrsk of

osteoporosrs ls
assessed and

manaqed
a pproprrately

People have fewer
fractures and live well

as a result of new
rnterven tton s

Support
Everyone wrth

osteoporosts rs able to
lrve well and manage

thetr condtlton rn

ways that best meet
therr needs

The charity's Strategic Direction at a Glance (2018)

Our vision - A future without osteoporosis

Our mission - We will

. Improve the bone health of our nation and prevent osteoporosis

. Influence healthcare providers and professionals to deliver high quality healthcare
so that people are assessed and treated for osteoporosis earlier

. Provide the best information, support and services to help people with
osteoporosis live well

. Drive the research and development of new treatments and therapies that will
ultimately beat osteoporosis

Our values - We are:

. Caring - we put your bone health and wellbeing first

. Influential - we persuade others to take positive action on bone health

r Innovative * we are bold, curious and brave about bone health

The Strategic Direction identifies four aims, Prevention/ Care, Support and Cure, which together
strive to deliver our vision of a future without osteoporosis. Each aim has been developed
through a Theory of Change, identifying the interim outcomes through which we will achieve the
aims, and ensuring that our activities are clearly aligned to those outcomes.
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ROYAL OSTEOPOR.OSIS SOCIETY (Formerly National Osteoporosis Society)

TR.USTEES' REPORT (continued)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Alongside the work associated with the four main strategic aims is an area of work called
eorporate. This area ensures that the organisation has the infrastructure and capacity to deliver
the four main aims effectively and efficiently,

Outlined below are highlights of our achievements and performance in 2018, under each aim.

In 2018, the charity developed an evidence-based five-year Primary Prevention Strategy
and action plan,

Building relationships with key partners and identifying opportunities for joint working
around bone health actions are planned for 2019. Although early in its implementation it
was identified that establishing a Vitamin D working party to develop consistent messages
for public and health professionals was vital. In December, the charity published the
reviewed Vitamin D clinical guideline for adults and children at risk. Work is ongoing to
provide simple wording for use by the general public about the importance of Vitamin D.

I Work with the NHS to increase the number and quality of Fracture Liaison Services
in the UK

Since 2OL5, there have been 29 new services started across the UK; providing FLS to over
10 million people who wouldn't otherwise have access. Over 5 years these services could
prevent over 3,200 hip fractures and save the health economy €65m.

Estimated UK population coverage of FLS is now 58o/o. Looking at this by nation highlights
that FLS provision is more established in Scotland (93o/o), Northern Ireland (B7o/o) and
Wales (72o/o) than England (53o/o).

a

2

a

a

a

Deliver training, development and networking for health professionals to improve
practice and strengthen clinical leadership

The regional Service Delivery teams ran 2t Allied Health Professional meetings across the
UK in 2OIB, delivering key messages to this work force on a number of important topics
including Vertebral Fracture Identification and exercise. 593 Allied Health Professionals
attended these meetings.

a

a

58o/o of those attending the events reported that they are likely to change their practice or
signpost their patients to the charity,

The regional Service Delivery teams ran 4 Study Days for health care professionals (HCP)
who don't specialise in the condition to help raise general awareness and knowledge of the
condition. Over 334 HCPs attended.

Achievements and Performance

Prevention - everyone has the best possible bone health throughout their life

Care - everyone who breaks a bone or is at risk of osteoporosis is assessed
and managed appropriately
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R.OYAt OSTEOPOR.OSIS SOCIETY (Formerly National Osteoporosis Soeiety)

TRUSTEES' R.EPORT (continued)

FOR THE YEAR EI{DED 31 DEEEMBER 2OT8

One of our priorities in 2018 was to develop and run the'Aspiring Clinical Leaders' course.
12 health care professionals from the osteoporosis field participated and have been
contracted to provide a commitment to the osteoporosis community in the future,

The charity continued to attend national and international conferences, presenting our work
and engaging with over 15,000 health professionals in the process. Of particular mention
was the charity's involvement at the IOF congress in Poland where members of the Service
Delivery Team presented 3 1-hour symposiums on our Fracture Liaison Service and

Vertebral fracture work programme.

3, Deliver biennial conference

. The Osteoporosis Conference 2018 was held at the ICC Birmingham on 02-04 December.

. A record number of delegates attended the conference (701) the majority of which were
nurses and rheumatology doctors. They were joined by 94 exhibiting personnel
representing over 25 different companies.

. 64 national and international speakers presented over the three days,

. Some quotes from delegates:

Dr Anne Drever, Clinical Lead for Osteoporosis, Dumfries & Galloway

Lisa Field, Consultant radiographer

Christina Heaton, Consultant Nurse Falls & FLS Service Bridgewater Community Foundation NHS
Trust

a

Inspiring, challenging and motivational!

Very thought provoking and definitely provides motivation to
want to improve cltntcal work and patient pathways

Another great conference packed with new developments and
ongoing clinical, academic and practice evidence
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ROYAT OSTEOPOROSIS SOCIETY (Formerly National Osteoporosis Soeiety)
TRUSTEES' REPORT (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

The conference was excellent - I would recommend it as the go
to place for an update on bone health and osteoporosis.

Dr Zaki Hassan-Smith Consultant Endocrinologist

4. Develop & implement guidance for the identification & management of vertebral
fractures

In 2018 the charity appointed to a new post of Clinical Lead - Quality Improvement, to
provide additional radiology experience to the Service Delivery Team. The role has the
responsibility for improving the identification, reporting and onward management of
people with vertebral fractures (VF).

The Royal College of Radiographers (RCR) audit on vertebral fractures has been finalised
and will be approved by their Audit Committee in January 2OI9. The audit is expected
to run March-June 2019 and will engage 220 Radiology departments across the UK. As
well as providing valuable information about how departments are performing to identify
and correctly report vertebral fractures, the audit will also enable us to distribute our
vertebral fracture identification (VFI) guidance and make contact with departments who
wish to improve the quality of their services with our support.

a

a

We are looking at ways to embed osteoporosis and VFI into the curricula. A pilot
osteoporosis, fragility fracture and reporting of vertebral fracture module is being
developed, This will be delivered as part of London South Bank university post-graduate
Radiography reporting course, If successful it will be incorporated into other Radiologist
training degrees.

A short e-learning assessment course based around the Vertebral Fracture guidance was
launched on the RCR learning hub in November 2018, A co-badged webinar with RCR was
also delivered on 12 December 2018, to over 40 delegates with positive feedback.

This conference was great value for money and there are take
home messages which can immediately be appltecl to clinical

practice to rmprove patient care.
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R.OYAL OSTEOPOR.OSIS SOCIETY (Formerly I{ational Osteoporosis Soeiety)

TRUSTEES' REPORT (eontinued)

FOR.THE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER.2018

Summary of activity in 2018:

1. Deliver and enhance our central information and support senrices

In 2018 our Specialist Nurse Helpline responded to over 12,000 queries. Enquiries via
letter continue to fall, however we have seen a significant increase in emails. This year,
we introduced the role of helpline support officerto triage enquiries and ensure the service
is covered Monday - Friday, 9am-5pm. This has led to a 32o/o decrease in missed calls.

Callers to the helpline are now transferred to a post call automated survey which is
gathering evaluation data about what they have gained from the call and whether they
would recommend the service to friends or family. Results so far are extremely positive
joining the similarly positive email evaluation which was commenced earlier this year. In
November 2018, the post call survey results were:

o 9Io/o had a better understanding of their treatment options
o 72o/o felt they had enough information to make lifestyle changes
o 97o/o would recommend our helpline.

Email evaluation has been similarly positive with over 95olo of enquirers saying they would
recommend the service to a friend or colleague, and 77o/o said they had been helped in at
least one of the following areas:

o Understanding the pros and cons of drug treatments
o Managing pain and other symptoms of osteoporosis
o Knowing how to reduce the risk of future fractures

We sent out over 370,000 hard copies of our information publications to healthcare
professionals and beneficiaries. Nearly 45,000 resources were downloaded.

2. Develop our local peer support, education and awareness raising services

Across the UK, 2018 has seen as a significant increase in the number of patient information
events organised by our Service Delivery Team, Development Managers or Support
Groups. These sessions invite health professional speakers to talk to people with
osteoporosis including meetings specifically for people newly diagnosed with the condition.
Additional meetings were attended by both people newly diagnosed with the condition and
the general public.

a

a

a

a

Newly Diagnosed sessions - 57 events, with I,456 attendees (against a planned 40 events,
with 900 attendees)
Other Patient Education sessions - 193 events, with 6,226 attendees (against a planned
30 events, reaching 1500 attendees)

In addition to the above, 261 peer support events have been delivered by our volunteers
and attended by 7,097 people. This was against a planned 150 events, reaching 4,950
people.

Support - everyone with osteoporosis lives well and manages their condition
in ways that best meet their needs
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ROYAT OSTEOPOROSIS SOCIETY (Formerly National Osteoponosis Soeiety)
TRUSTEES' REPORT (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

3, Develop and implement volunteer framework

Development of the Volunteer Strategy is underway, with completion in summer 2019.

In the meantime, development of the management/processes and streamlining of our
volunteer programme in the countries and regions continues, with successful development
of volunteer teams. These teams complement our existing Support Group programme and
enable us to engage volunteers in our patient education/ peer support, awareness and
fundraising activities in an alternative governance structure.

In 2018 we had 470 volunteers.

a

a

a

4. Produce guidance and materials to support safe and effective exercise

Our new 'Expert Consensus Statement Strong, Steady and Straight Physical Activity,
Exercise and Osteoporosis'was launched at the Conference in December 2018.

600 copies of the statement were taken away by delegates and there has been enthusiastic
uptake online since the conference from health and exercise professionals especially
physiotherapists. we will be formally seeking and evaluating feedback.

Initial feedback has been positive

Physiotherapist

National Lead for Physical Activity at Public Health England

a

'l feel more confidenl with exercrse prescription and wrth
explainrng a patient's diagnosis or helping them understand. i

feel every new grad physro s;hould read thrs, I have passed
the same onto my fellow colleagues and plan to carry out a

slalf in-servrce Iaudrt] on the consensus staternent'

'Strong, Steady and Straight is a great resource which we
have been sharing',
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R.OYAI OSTEOPOROSIS SOCIETY (Forrnerly National Osteoporosis Soeiety)

TR.USTEES' REPORT (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3tr DEEEMBER 2018

5, eernsider new opportunities for peer support

The numbers of new Volunteer Teams in the countries and regions which offer a new way
of volunteers engaging with the charity and supporting our work (fundraising, awareness/
peer support and facilitating patient information and educational events) are growing. We
now have 14 Teams as well as our 60 Support Groups across the UK. This means that we
are continuing to extend our reach and support to new areas of the UK and have a model
which is successful in attracting new volunteers in new areas.

6.

a

a

a

a

Engage people in service improvement

. A strategy to underpin Public and Patient Involvement and Engagement (PPIE) is under
development. A presentation was made to the Members and Volunteers Committee and
their feedback will help to inform the next phase of the development of the strategy.

In 2018 the charity recruited a panel of 10 volunteers to form a Patient Panel to support
the work of the Royal College of Physicians delivered FFFFAP (Falls and Fragility Fracture
Audit Programme). This work has brought 3 new volunteers into the charity as well as
given an opportunity for 7 of our existing volunteers in the countries and regions to support
the charity in a different way.

Summary of activity in 2O18:

1, Development of the Osteoporosis and Bone Research Academy

Working towards a cure is a top priority for those currently living with the condition. There
is currently no comprehensive programme of work focused on a cure for osteoporosis. As
the only UK-wide charity dedicated to osteoporosis and the professional home for
clinicians, it is right and accepted that the Royal Osteoporosis Society should lead on a
cure work prdgramme.

a

Numbers of peer support events in 2018 as a whole (261) and people attending (7 
'O97)

have far exceeded targets for the year demonstrating the value of the additional model
above.

During 2018 work was undertaken to devise our Cure Strategy, which has determined
our priorities and delivery over the medium term. To spearhead our push towards finding
a cure and provide the infrastructure required to co-ordinate this work programme the
charity has decided to establish the new Osteoporosis and Bone Research Academy
(The Academy). The Academy will be a crucial driver in the development of a new cohort
of scientific researchers and academics to reinvigorate the field of bone research and provide
the technical and leadership skills required to meet future challenges, The Academy will
commission the top clinicians and scientists in the field of bone research and osteoporosis
to work towards a cure for the disease. A public and patient framework for the Academy
will also be developed to ensure thatthe needs of people with osteoporosis are atthe heart
of the research we do.

Cure - people have fewer fractures and live well because of new
interventions
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ROYAT OSTEOPOROSIS SOCIETY (Formerly Itational Osteoporosis Society)
TR.USTEES' REPORT (contin ued)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

. The Academy will consist of an Academy Advisory eommittee who will advise the Board
of Trustees on matters relating to the charity's 'cure' work programme and will oversee
the outputs of three Academy Working Groups titled Causes, Effectiveness and
Technology, In 2018 we confirmed the Terms of Reference for the Academy Advisory
Committee, finalised recruitment of its members (including two patient advocates) and
appointed a Chair. We also began preparations for the first Academy Advisory Committee
meeting scheduled for January 2OI9 and prepared for the official launch of the Academy
in February 2OI9.

The Academy's initial objective in 2019 will be to use the Working Groups in order to build
the first osteoporosis Research Roadmap, which will play a key role in determining our
core research areas and priorities and will therefore inform the updating of our Research
Strategy going forward.

2, Our Current Research Strategy

The charity continues to support research in the field of osteoporosis through the three goals set
out in our published Research Strategy.

Implementation of a scheme to fund high-quality research and the influencing and
partnering with key bone health funders to maximise impact

1. Research Grants Programme

In 2018 the charity has been involved in supporting a total of ten research projects. During
this period, two projects reached completion and submitted a final report, and five new
projects were funded from the Research Grants Round. At the end of ?OLB, the charity is
continuing to manage eight active research projects with a value of over E44O,OOO.

Our research grants have involved 52 researchers across the UK in 22 research institutions,
including supporting the salaries associated with PhD students, research assistants, and
research post-doctoral fellows (7 posts in total).

Our research grants have consistently generated academic impact, with results
disseminated on both a national and international scale to help advance knowledge and
also increase awareness of the charity. Highlights from 2018:

o Three papers have been published in high-impact peer-reviewed journals.
o Presentation of charity funded research at six scientific conferences (e.g.9th

International Conference on Osteoporosis and Bone Disease (China); American
Society of Bone Mineral Research Meeting (ASBMR) 2018 (Canada))

Our research funding has also facilitated researchers securing further funding. For
example, Dr Paskins's (grant: 430) project grant was extremely important in helping her
secure a National Institute of Health Research Clinical Scientist (NIHR-CS) Award, The
NIHR-CS is a prestigious 5-year post-doctoral research training fellowship circa
[1.2million. Dr Paskins research is aiming to'improve uptake of Fracture Prevention
Treatments (iFRAP) via the development, feasibility and acceptability of a computerised
decision support tool'. This additional funding from the NiHR will increase the likelihood of
the project delivering an intervention which impacts meaningfully on patients.

a

a

a

a

Research to Make a Difference
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R.OYAI OSTEOPOROSIS SOCIETY (Formerly l{ational Osteoporosis Society)

TRUSTEES' R.EPOR.T (eontinued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31" DEEEMBER 2018

The charity's research funding has consistently generated academic, societal, economic and

public engagement impact. The impact from charity research grant funding to a researcher
can often extend beyond the immediate project. Therefore, we continue to monitor the
progress and impact of the charity's research funding through the implementation of a

comprehensive reporting process utilising the innovative online facility Researchfish
(httos : //www. resea rchfish.com ).

Charity research grants reporting process

An example of the impact of a previous National Osteoporosis Society research grant:
The epidemiology of fragility fractures in the United Kingdom (Proiect Grant,
REF: 292, Professor Harvey, University of Southampton, 879'905, Jan 14 - Aug
t6).

The study generated nine academic publications. One publication showed that ethnicity,
socioeconomic status and place of residence in the UK all influence the risk of breaking a

bone. There were marked differences in fracture rates according to where individuals lived,
with the highest fracture rates in Scotland and Northern lreland, where rates were around
50o/o greater than those in London. These findings were widely reported in the UK media,
especially in Scotland, and provided the evidence needed to influence (e.g. NHS decision
makers) to enable development of health prevention strategies in future years. Fracture

Liaison Services systematically identify people at risk of osteoporosis and start them on a
treatment pathway to try to stop them breaking bones in the future. Since completion of
the project, the charity has facilitated three new Fracture Liaison Services to be planned by
Health Boards in Scotland. As a result, this means Scotland is now one of only a few
countries in the world with 1000/o FLS coverage.

The findings have also informed the revision of the UK National Osteoporosis Guideline
Group recommendations (NOGG), and the development of novel investigations using the UK

Biobank cohort.

a

a

ACTIVE PROJECT
Progress Reports

(challenges,
milestones)

COMPLETED
PROJECT

Frnal Report
(Short Term lmpact)

POST-COMPLETION
1-2 yr Follow Up Report

(Long Term lmpact)
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ROYAL OSTEOPOR.OSIS SOCIETY (Formerly I{ational Osteoporosis Soeiety)
TRUSTEES" R.EPORT (eontinued)

FOR THE YEAR. ENDED 3I. DEEEMBER 2OI.8

2, 2018 Research Grants Round

The Research Grants Round concluded in July 2018. To allocate research grants the charity
adheres to a rigorous two-stage peer review process, guided by the principles set out by
the AMRC, The charity currently holds an award from the AMRC for'Best Practice in Medical
and Health Research Peer Review',

Applicants were able to apply across the ten broad core research areas outlined in our
published Research Strategy and under the following funding schemes:

o Project Grants (up to [150,000 over a maximum of three years)
o Early Career Grants (up to f30,000 over a maximum of two years)
o Innovative Grants (up to €10,000 over a maximum of 12 months)

The Research Grants Committee recommended five research grant applications for
funding, which were ratified by the Board of Trustees in July 2018 (Table 1). Collectively
the final five projects cover all the ten core research areas identified in the Research
Strategy, therefore will support progress against the charity's strategic aims: Prevention,
Care, Support and Cure. The top research area was Mechanisms of Disease, with 600/o of
the new grants covering research into the exploration of the pathogenesis of osteoporosis,

Table 1: Summary of research grants applications per funding scheme

Research grants awarded in 2018:

a

o Time is of the essencer Revealing the'bone clock'in humans (Project Grant, REF: 420,
Prof Lanham-New, University of Surrey, [32,604)
Standing up for bone health - is prolonged sitting a risk factor for osteoporosis?
(Project Grant, REF: 426, Dr Mavroeidi, University of Strathclyde, 843,507)
Improving uptake of Fracture Prevention Treatments (iFRAP): Development, feasibility
and acceptability of a computerised decision support tool (Project Grant, REF: 430, Dr
Paskins, Keele Un iversity, f70,289)
Development and application of novel physical activity measurements in individuals
with back pain and vertebral fractures (Early Career Grant, REF: 398, Dr lreland,
Manchester Metropolitan University, f18,570)
Role of collagen-mineral nanomechanics in skeletal fragility (Innovative Grant, REF:
402, Dr Abel, Imperial College London, 810,000).

o

o

o

o

Funding Scheme Total Stage I
Applications

Total Stage 2
Applications

Funded
Aoolications

Success
Rate

Project Grants 26 10 3 72o/o

Early Career Grants 6 2 1 17o/o

Innovative Grants I2 5 1 Bo/o

Total Applications 44 t7 5 Llo/o
Total Amount

Requested C3.2lmillion €85O,OOO Et74,g7b 5o/o
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Su pporting Resea rchers

I

Stimulation of networking and collaborations within the research community and the
development of future osteoporosis research leaders

Young Scientist Prize 2018

. The Young Scientist Prize awarded in association with Osteoporosis Conference 2018, aims
to support the development of the next generation of osteoporosis research leaders. It
consists of a E4,OOO research grant and f500 recognition gift, as it recognises the
contribution a young investigator (with no more than ten years research experience) to
the field of osteoporosis and contributes towards initiating and supporting a small research
project.

We received six strong applications (50% PhD

students and 507r, early career researchcrs).
The Research Grants Committee identified Dr
Andrea Darling, a postdoctoral research fellow
from the Unlversity of Surrey as Llte wittner'
Picture shows Dr Andrea Darling (ccntrc)
receiving lrer award at Osteoporosis Conference
2-018 fronr Dr Nicola Peel, Conference Chair
(left) and Mrs Claire Severgnini, Royal
Osteoporosis Society Chief Executive (right)

Dr Darling plans to use the award to undertake a novel l8-month project which will utilise
NHS patient health records from the Royal College of General Practitioners Research and
Surveillance Centre (RCGP RSC) database. Dr Darling will investigate osteoporosis,
fracture, and falls prevalence as well as osteoporosis related patient care in 50,000 UK

South Asians. Dr Darling will be reporting back to the charity on the impact the award has
made to the field of osteoporosis and her career,

Quote from Young Scientist Prize winner Dr Andrea Darling

) I am incredibly honoured to have won this prestigious prize and I am immensely thankful
to the National Osteoporosis Society for this research opportunity

2. Osteoporosis Conference Bursaries 2018

Conference Bursaries of up to f500 were available to contribute towards the costs
(registration fees, travel and accommodation) of delegates attending Osteoporosis
Conference 2018. This was to support researchers and facilitate collaborations and
networking.

Eight bursaries were awarded, and applicants ranged from PhD/medical students/ nurse
consultants, statisticians, and academic researchers. 50% of recipients presented posters
and 50o/o oral abstracts. 63Vo of recipients had not attended previous conferences.

a

a

a

a
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a Some quotes from Conference Bursary recipients
F 4s a PhD student it is a great event to share

my work with professionals with different
backgrounds and experiences to get valuable
feedback for my research

b Conference attendance is a fantastic
opportunity to network, not only meeting
peers at a similar career progression to myself
but also with world leading experts. Building
such links is vital for future research and
potenti a I co I I a bo rations.

Research for People Affected by Osteoporosis

Dissemination of the latest medical research findings so accessible for all, facilitation of
engagement of researchers with patients and the public so that people affected by the
osteoporosis are at the centre of research

1. Public and Patient Involvement

The charity wants to ensure that the views of people affected by osteoporosis are heard
and that the opportunity is available to all those wishing to participate in research.
Therefore, researchers are able to request (non-financial) support from the charity via our
research support request and approval process, and support may be requested for:

a

a

o facilitation of public and patient involvement
o dissemination of research
o participation as a stakeholder organisation on a research project steering group in order

to represent the views of people affected by osteoporosis.

At the end of 2018 the charity is managing 25 active research support requests, this
includes the 16 new requests received in 2018. The majority of requests (79o/o) involved
requests to partner in a new research proposal to other larger funding organisations (e.9.
National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) Health Technology Assessment (HTA) and
Patient Benefit schemes).

Due to the increase in the number of requests and to help manage the impact it may have
on charity resource (i.e. staff time etc.), during 2018 we introduced a charging structure
to cover the costs of the support provided. Of the 16 new requests received in 2OLB,7Lo/o
had charges attributed to them ranging from f200 to place promotional information/results
about the research project on the charity's website; to [40,000 covering a combination of
percentage of staff time, workshops and webinars.

The charity continues to disseminate information about research and our Research
Programme directly to our members. For example, short articles on projects have been
included in the 'Research Update' section of our quarterly membership magazine
Osteoporosis News. Several of our research grant holders directly engaged with patients
and members of the public as their projects involved patient participation, Some research
grant holders also engaged with the public by giving talks at Support Group Meetings in
the local area.
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2" Governance and administration

The Association of Medical Research Charities (AMRC) is the national membership
organisation for medical and health research charities, We have been a member of the
AMRC for over 26 years, and we are committed to its code of practice, which ensures the
integrity and efficiency of our research work, Through our membership we welcome the
opportunity to collaborate with other medical and health research charities.

With the coming into force of the new General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in May
2OIB, the charity developed and agreed a Research Data Retention Policy which sets out
the range of data and their associated retention periods, This included a review of the
rationale for keeping all types of research related data.

o The charity worked in partnership with 23 other members of the AMRC to develop and
launch a new open access publication platform called AMRC Open Research in October
2018. The charity chose to help develop and run this new publication platform to ensure
immediate & transparent publishing by providing a venue in which researchers can rapidly
and openly peer review and share any aspect of the work the charity has funded.

a

Corporate

Summary of activity in 2Ol8:

l. Sustain and develop existing income streams

The Royal Osteoporosis Society funds its work through a range of income streams, from more
traditional fundraising activities such as appeals and community fundraising, through to its
membership scheme, to education and training events for healthcare professionals.

This balanced portfolio enables the charity to manage risk and mitigate against fluctuations in
income resulting from external factors. As the fundraising environment changes, work continues to
identify new, sustainable income streams aligned to our mission, building on our capabilities and
assets.

We would like to thank all our supporters, partners and volunteers, whose generosity allows us to
continue our vital work.

a. Legacies

In a typical year, gifts in wills contribute around a half of the charity's fundraised income, and
2018 was no exception. We are immensely grateful to those supporters who choose to give
in this way.

Of the legacies we receive, around half are left by people who have been members of the
charity, who in the course of their involvement have learned more about our work, often
experiencing it first-hand, and who understand the difference their support can make.
Stewardship events and update communications therefore play an important role in inspiring
people to give.

During 2018, we held three events designed to engage long-standing supporters with our
work and inspire them to consider remembering the Royal Osteoporosis Society in their will.
This represented an increase on the two held in previous years, due to the positive feedback
consistently received from event attendees, Guests at events held in London, Stratford and
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Glasgow had the opportunity to learn more about the work of the charity, hear from scientists
supported by the charity's research programme, and enjoy an exclusive tour of a venue of
historic or artistic interest, The events resulted in new expressions of interest in legacy giving,
and 14 individuals let us know that they had either left a gift to the charity in their will or
planned to when they next updated it.

2018 also saw the production of a dedicated legacy video which will be used at events, on the
website and alongside legacy communications.

h. Individual Fundraising

The charity offers a range of ways for individuals to get involved and support the charity,
including membership, appeals, challenge events and do-it-yourself fundraising initiatives,
We also offer a small retail range including living aids suitable for people with osteoporosis.
2Ot7 saw the implementation of the recommendations of a membership review and in 2018
we continued to add to the membership benefits package, with the introduction of the option
of a welcome call from one of the charity's helpline nurses. Online member-only content
continues to be enhanced, with recipes, blogs and lifestyle tips adding value and helping both
to attract and retain members. Membership plays a key role in the supporter journey, with
around half of all members also supporting the charity in other ways, and we are continually
seeking opportunities to refresh the offering to ensure it is attractive and valued.

In 2018, we launched a new fundraising initiative, Bake for Bones, which encourages
supporters to bake calcium-rich goodies and hold an event to share them, spread the word
and raise money. initial take-up has been encouraging, and we hope to build on this success
in 2019. The initiative sits alongside our other mission-aligned fundraising product, the 206
Challenge, which combines fundraising with exercise - important for good bone health.
Together, these two initiatives give us the opportunity to reach out to people of all ages and
levels of physical ability, and to encourage existing supporters and healthcare professionals
to get their family, friends and colleagues involved with the charity. In 2019 we will be
instigating closer ways of working with service delivery teams on the ground to increase
participation in fundraising and awareness-raising activities.

In 2018, ahead of the adoption in UK law of the GDPR, we implemented a move to opt-in
consent across individual fundraising. A round of testing in late 20L7 and early 2018 informed
our approach and we were delighted to achieve a 460/o response rate to opt-in
communications, with 93olo of those responding choosing to hear from the charity in future.
Whilst we accept that this approach will have a short-term impact on some income streams,
it is firmly aligned with our ethical approach to fundraising.

c. Fundraising from organisations

The charity raises funds from trusts and foundations and through partnerships with
pharmaceutical companies and consumer brands. An ethical policy and formal approvals
process ensure that we only work with companies whose aims and operating practices are
aligned with ours and meet our ethical criteria.

The biennial Osteoporosis Conference in December allowed us to deepen relationships with
pharmaceutical partners and start conversations with potential partners.

In 2018, we secured funding from 56 trusts and foundations towards our research
programme, central and regional services and key projects.
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d. Philanthnopy

By the end of 2018, membership of the charity's giving circle the Patrons' Club, had grown
to 32, Key to engaging with philanthropists is the charity's annual Fashion Show. In 2018
the event was held at Lancaster House in London and featured couture creations by leading
designerJulien MacDonald. Attended by the charity's royal President HRH The Duchess of
Cornwall and celebrities including Craig Revel Horwood, Dame Shirley Bassey and Alan
Carr, the event raised significant funds as well as awareness through substantial media
coverage.

e. How we fundraise

The charity conducts a range of fundraising activities including direct marketing (by post
and email), community fundraising and fundraising and stewardship events. It also raises
funds through applications to trusts and foundations, through corporate partnerships and
through relationships with individual philanthropists.

Fundraising is conducted by the in-house fundraising team. No third-parties are used for
fundraising, other than for the provision of the weekly lottery and services such as design,
print and fulfilment.

i. Ethics and Transparency

At the Royal Osteoporosis Society, we endeavour always to treat supporters with
respect and aim to be ethical in all that we do. This extends to our fundraising
activities.

Our Supporter Charter outlines our approach to fundraising and commitment to
transparency, ethics and data protection. We registered with the Fundraising
Regulator upon the Regulator's launch, and we have committed to adhere to the
Fundraising Promise and Codes of Fundraising Practice. Fundraising staff are
required to familiarise themselves with the Codes and are briefed on any changes
as soon as they happen. The charity is also an organisational member of the
Institute of Fundraising, Our weekly lottery is regulated by the Gambling
Commission and we are members of the Lotteries Council.
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The charity records and monitors any complaints relating to fundraising activity but in
2018 received no complaints which would have been reportable under the Fundraising
Regulator's guidance.

Ahead of the adoption into UK law of the GDPR, the charity made the decision to move
to an opt-in model of consent for the majority of its fundraising and direct marketing
activity, putting supporters and beneficiaries in control of the communications they
receive from us. This approach was implemented in 2018.

As well as giving individuals control over the type of communications they receive and
channel by which they prefer to receive them, we are conscious of limiting the number
of fundraising asks received by supporters, managed through an annual activity
calendar and detailed supporter journeys.

ii, Vulnerable people

In 2018 a review was undertaken of the charity's Safeguarding Policy, this was
completed in response to new guidelines published by the Charity Commission
highlighting the responsibilities of trustees and the need to evidence how anyone the
charity comes into contact with is kept safe from harm. The policy also outlines the
charity's approach to fundraising. An updated Safeguarding and Protecting People from
Harm Policy was approved by the Board of Trustees in December 2018 and is available
on the charity's website. Key staff are regularly trained on safeguarding issues.

We do not knowingly contact vulnerable people with fundraising communications, but
if a concerned relative requests that we cease to contact an individual, they are
immediately excluded from any marketing activity. In addition, the Membership and
Supporter Team have a series of trigger phrases in place to help them identify where
someone may not be in a position to make informed decisions and who therefore
should be excluded from fundraising communications.

2, Increase awareness of and engagement with the charity

a, Stop at One Campaign

5694 people have taken the Stop at One quiz, in total, since it was refreshed, The quiz
encourages people to understand their risk.

At the end of 2018, a total of 34 sites had the Stop at One campaign materials up. This
covers 34 UK postcode areas (27o/o of the UK total). Results are continuing to show that
having materials in fracture clinics increases the number of people taking the quiz, with
more than 4oo/o of those completing the quiz coming from a Stop at One campaign area.
We have started collecting data for actions taken by people after taking the Stop at One
quiz, Early indications show the results remain consistent with previous months - more
than B0% of people reporting taken at least one positive action for their bone health.

a

a

b. Press and Media coverage

During 2018 there were 412 media clips (UK media only, not including international,
YouTube, social) with a circulation of 222.4 million and an advertising value equivalent
of nearly [2 million. The second half of 2018 focused on the impending launch of the
Royal Osteoporosis Society in early 2079 and some key activities requiring
communication support in Q4 zot9, i.e. world osteoporosis Day, A Message to My
Younger Self campaign, Fashion show and Osteoporosis Conference.

a
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o

a

The charity benefited from the BBC Strictly Come Dancing special which broadcast at
the end of 2OL7 and featured a charity tea dance segment promoting the benefits of
dance for bone health. Coverage continued in 2018.

Additional peaks in media coverage were around the announcement in September 2018
of the awarding of a royal title to the charity and its intention to change its name to
the Royal Osteoporosis Society in 2019. The media activity was co-ordinated alongside
a wider cross organisation stakeholder communication cascade plan to tell key
stakeholders about the move to the ROS,

Activity for A Message to My Younger Self campaign during September and October
2018 was appropriately reduced ahead of planning and resource for ROS launch. Taking
research evidence and using our existing warm audience (primary) the campaign idea
was to start to bridge to a new (secondary) audience which is part of the Prevention
strategic aim. The AMTMYS helps support the segue from existing messaging and
audience to new audiences. The call to action was to find someone under the age of
30 and tell them they can do something about their bone health, build their bones,
strengthen their bones - together we can help build society's bones, pass it on, a bit
like a bone relay. This resulted in the bone health pledge. The activity included content
for direct emails, social media posts (gifs, infographics and text), a dedicated webpage
to direct people to, website banner and a page in Osteoporosis News to generate
advocacy among members. Campaign activity continued in October with additional
content for email marketing and social posts as well as reminders in the content used
and posted in the run up to World Osteoporosis Day on 20 October. At the end of
October, 485 pledges were achieved, more than double the objective. This has provided
useful insight in to what can be achieved without external expenditure and only using
in-house Comms capacity (original planning was for external comms resource, paid for
advertising etc.) just targeting our existing supporters.

For World Osteoporosis Day on Saturday 20 October 2018 a range of activities were
planned including a dedicated WOD webpage created with a range of information about
osteoporosis, videos (personal story and Miriam Margolyes), and calls to action with
advice on how to look after your bones, links to find local support groups, links to sign
up to fundraising events, Bake for Bones, bone health pledge etc. plus additional calls
to action to share. Three blog posts were also created for the website including the
IOF press release on the burden of broken bones report. Digital marketing activity and
Google Ads supported the activity, The dedicated WOD webpage achieved a better
bounce rate than average for the website as a whole enabling the charity to learn /
adapt future content.

a

a

3

o Media activity peaks during November and December were around the launch of new
vitamin D guidelines and Expert Consensus Statement on physical activity at the
Osteoporosis Conference, Fashion Show and a syndicated feature about osteoporosis
which was widely picked up by regional media.

Launch the new strategic direction

Since 2077 we have been preparing to launch our new strategic direction, combining not
only a new vision and mission but a new name/ Iook and feel. In 2018, as we were
finalising our naming options, we had the opportunity to seek a Protected Royal Title with
the support of our President, Her Royal Highness, The Duchess of Cornwall. Having been
awarded the title, the charity's legal name change became effective on 14 January 2OI9.

a
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The preparations for the transition to the Royal Osteoporosis Society in 2019 were a major
focus for all areas within the charity in 2018. These were co-ordinated into an overarching
Transition Project which brought together:
r goVeFflance and legal aspects
. brand implementation
. the Academy
. launch event
. stakeholdercommunications

The Royal Osteoporosis Society was officially launched on 13 February 2019

Digital support was key for the smooth transition to the Royal Osteoporosis Society in early
2019. Scoping and planning for the name change and re-brand has been a main digital
focus; updating the websites with new logo, colour, fonts and content management
functions; updating and renaming our primary domain along with all email addresses and
login capabilities and migration of support groups and teams away from their own email
account usage to centrally managed and branded email accounts.

Workshops took place at the end of the year to support the creation of an operational and
technical website and CRM specification in preparation for implementation in 2OL9.

5. Implement GDPR compliant systems and maintain excellent governance

There was extensive activity in early 2018 in order to prepare for the GDPR coming into
effect on 25 May 2018. There was an engagement and training programme for trustees,
employees, volunteers, and beneficiaries.

a

a

4. Develop the use and effectiveness of digital technology

There has been improvement in the stabilisation of some core applications and upgrades
to critical digital systems in 2018, but this area remains a significant challenge for the
charity. The digital focus is an organisational priority again in 2019 with significant
investment and effort being required to reach our desired outcome.

a

a

a

a A revised Data Protection Policy and Privacy Policy were approved bythe Board of Trustees
in 2018. These were updated to reflect legislative changes and organisational decisions
around how we use personal data.

. A new 'How we use your information' section was created for the website in order to
simplify these policies and make it easier for individuals to understand how we use their
personal data.

By the end of 2018, employees were adopting the strengthened approach to data
protection as part of business as usual activity, There continues to be quarterly reporting
of data breaches and any associated risks to the Board of Trustees.

100o/o of employees completed the GDPR E-module in 2018 and a training programme is
in place for 2019 to ensure that all employees and volunteers receive refresher training,

a

a
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Plans for Future Periods

The launch and implementation of the Royal Osteoporosis Society will continue to be a major focus
in 2019 and beyond. Ourotherorganisational priorities for2019 are outlined in the diagram below.

Delivery of all our priorities will be underpinned by a strong sustainability agenda, to ensure we are
creating a charity that is here for people now and here for people in the future. We are taking a
proactive, risk-based and pragmatic approach to sustainability ensuring our newly developed
beliefs, values and behaviours framework is at the heart of every decision we make.

1. Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The Trustees have a risk management strategy in place, The risks the charity may face are identified
and reviewed; systems and procedures to mitigate risks identified; and procedures are designed to
minimise any potential impact on the charity should those risks materialise, Through this risk
management process, the Trustees are satisfied that reasonable steps are being taken to mitigate
exposure to the identified major risks. It is recognised that systems can only provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance that major risks have been adequately managed.
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a, Fundraising Environment

Pressures in the fundraising environment will have a significant impact on growth in
the medium term
o Predicted slow-down in economic growth
o Uncertainty of the impact of Brexit
o Impact of GDPR
o Allegations of poor practice in the sector

a

a

Coupled with
o Reduction in people giving a long-term commitment (i.e, membership or direct

debit) and a lower proportion of the population giving
o More fluid giving
o Legacy income growth will slow

. There are therefore some inherent financial risks which are included in the reserves
policy.

The charity is working to a strong sustainability agenda which not only considers income
diversification, but income generation and efficient and effective service delivery. All areas of
the charity are being tasked with committing and contributing to this agenda.

The charity employs a range of fundraising methods. As mentioned above, as a charity
dependent on voluntary donations, we aim to develop a balanced portfolio of funding streams,
in order to mitigate risk, reduce dependency on any one source of income and ensure
sustainability.

To further consider diversifying income, we are working with a specialist partner to identify
potential new income streams, utilising our assets and capabilities to develop new initiatives
which both align to our mission and have the potential to deliver sustainable income.

b, Digital Development

The charity is highly dependent upon stable, fully functioning, integrated digital
systems including our Customer Relationship Management (CRM) and website to
operate efficiently a nd effectively.
It is an organisational priority to develop our systems to support our new strategic
direction and ensure we are able to respond to the changing needs of our beneficiaries
when accessing our support and services,

a

The charity acknowledges our digital dependence by the level of priority that is designated to
this programme of work. We continue to invest in appropriate expertise and resource to
support this.

c. Damage to our Reputation

. The charity acknowledges in its risk register that damage to its reputation is possible.

The charity ensures it is well run by maintaining good governance and management practices,
In addition, there is a rigorous recruitment process and ongoing training for staff and trustees
to ensure that people do the right thing at the right times. If things go wrong, we have a
clear Crisis Management Policy in place and insurance to mitigate the financial risk to the
charity.
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2. Financial Ferformance

The financial performance of the charity is set out in the financial statements, The Consolidated
Statement of Financial Activities separates out unrestricted funds into Designated and General as

it is important to differentiate between planned expenditure relating to previous designated funds
and amounts spent on regular core activities.

Legacies continue to be the main source of income for the charity. In 2018 legacy income was
E2,L!6,673, which equates to 460/o of total income. Around half of the legacies received are left
by people who have been members of the charity and who understand the difference their support
can make.

The biennial conference was held in 2018 and generated f366,618 in income. A record number of
delegates attended the conference, the majority of which were nurses and rheumatology doctors.
The conference also allowed the charity to deepen relationships with pharmaceutical partners and
start conversations with potential partners.

Total income increased by [198k compared to 2OL7, with a related increase in expenditure of
f.g12k. These were both primarily due to the fact that 2018 included income and expenditure in
relation to the biennial conference which was not held in 2OI7.

Planned expenditure from designated funds shown within the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Activities was €653,848. Of this, f 565,386 was spent on the four goals of Prevention, Care, Support
and Cure. Further details of this expenditure is shown in Note 16a.

Net expenditure from general funds spent on core activities was €353,986. After adding realised
and unrealised losses on investments of EI77,4BI, there was an overall deficit of E53L,467 in
general funds.

Freely available general funds are E1.Bm, which is in line with the charity's Reserves Policy.

3, Investment Policy

The Trustees have delegated investment decisions to the Finance, General Purposes and Audit
Committee (FGP&A) and have appointed HSBC Private Bank (UK) Ltd to manage professionally the
investment portfolio. The charity seeks to produce the best financial return within an acceptable
level of risk. The performance of the investment portfolio is benchmarked against the ARC Peer
Group (Balanced) benchmark and HSBC's own in-house UK Balanced benchmark.

Overall the estimated gross income yield of the portfolio was 2.60/0 (892k) and the fund was valued
at 82.4m at 31 December 2018.

4. Grant Making Policy

It is the policy of the charity to fund research that is in line with the charity's mission statement
and which follows the recommendations of the Charity Commission and the Association of Medical
Research Charities (AMRC) of which the Royal Osteoporosis Society is a member. The charity was
last audited by the AMRC in 2015 and was subsequently awarded a certificate in'Best Practice in
Medical and Health Research Peer Review'. Our Research Grants Committee (RGC) reports to
the Trustees on matters regarding the award and monitoring of grants through the Clinical and
Scientific Committee (CSC). The availability of funding is advertised through our regular
publications and website.
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In 2018, the charity continued to support a total of ten research projects. At the end of 2018 eight
research projects were still active with a total value of over E44Ok.

The charity completed its Research Grants round in July 2018.

5, Reserves Policy

As at 31 December 2018, total funds held by the charity were €4.9m. This includes:

€1.8m - freely available general funds
f 1.1m - Designated projects
{1.8m - Camerton building
EO,2m - Restricted Income

The charity has a reserves policy in place that defines the process of reviewing the charity's risks
and the reserves required to mitigate the risks. The charity's reserves policy outlines two levels of
reserves: a minimal level below which reserves should not fall of flm and an additional
recommended range of f 1.5m to €2.5m.

As at December 2018, the charity had freely available reserves of [1.8m which is in line with the
charity's reserves policy,

6, Going Concern

The Board of Trustees have reviewed Royal Osteoporosis Society activities, financial position and
risk management policies together with factors likely to affect future development, including the
impact of economic uncertainty on voluntary income. They have concluded that it is reasonable to
expect Royal Osteoporosis Society to have adequate resources to continue in operation for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the going concern basis of accounting continues to be adopted in
preparing the financial statements.
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Structure, Governance and Management

1, Overview

The National Osteoporosis Society was established in 1986 and changed its name to Royal
Osteoporosis Society on !4 January 2OL9. The organisation is a charitable company limited by
guarantee, incorporated on l-5 December 2003 and registered as a charity on 18 March 2004'
On 31 July 2008, the charity registered with the Scottish Charity Register to further the
development of its activities in Scotland. The organisation was established under a memorandum
of association which established the objects and powers of the organisation and is governed
under its articles of association. The charity is governed by a Board of Trustees. Those in office
during the year, and at the date of signing these financial statements are set out on page 3.
Trustees have delegated authority for the day to day management of the charity to the Chief
Executive.

Following a period of engagement with Members, a Special Resolution was passed in 2OL4
removing company law responsibility from our standard and professional membership.

At the end of 2OIB, the main Board has 6 committees that enable the effective delivery of
organisational objectives and strategic advice to the Board. These committees meet up to 4
times per year and are listed below:

Clinical & Scientific Committee r Appointments & Governance Committee
Members & Volunteers Committee r Remuneration Committee
Finance, General Purposes &Audit Committee . Academy Committee

In addition, the charity has one wholly owned, subsidiary company. The National Osteoporosis
Society Trading Company Limited changed its name to ROS Trading Company Limitdd on 9 March
2019. The Subsidiarywas incorporated on 29 September 2009, and trading commenced January
2010.

The leadership and delivery of the organisation's objectives is undertaken by an Executive Team
based at the charity's registered office in Camerton, near Bath.

2, Trustee Recruitment, Appointment, Induction and Training

The Royal Osteoporosis Society has a robust approach to governance. We strive to meet the
highest of standards to ensure our beneficiaries, supporters and the general public can have
trust and confidence in us.

The charity adheres to a governance handbook which sets out our approach to governance,
including how we recruit and select Trustees. This handbook is reviewed and refreshed regularly.

The Appointments & Governance Committee has established a process of Trustee succession
planning and is responsible for the recruitment, appointment and induction of new Trustees, and
meets regularly throughout the year. Trustee vacancies are advertised externally to support
equality of opportunity.

We have a skills-based approach to recruitment, We undertake a regular'skills audit' of our
Board of Trustees to ensure we have a broad mix of skills and experience. Our Board composition
is reflective of our current beneficiary demographic.

Trustees participate in a comprehensive induction programme to ensure they fully understand
their duties, the charity sector and the charity. Training of Trustees is addressed by offering
internal and external courses as part of their induction. Records of training attended are
maintained by the Corporate Services Director. Additionally, the Chair/Vice Chair hold annual
'check-ins'. These are an opportunity forTrustees to meet individually and discuss performance
and development. This process is enabling the charity to respond more effectively to the needs
of Trustees and ensure they feel supported and fully equipped to discharge their duties.

a

a

28 of 59



Our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy was updated in 2018 to reflect updated guidance and
compliance with equalities legislation. This policy applies to trustees, employees and volunteers.
An accompanying training programme is scheduled for 2019.

3, eharity Governance Code

In 2018, the new Charity Governance Code gave a renewed focus to governance activity.
Trustees participated in a workshop using the NCVO's governance wheel assessment tool, to
provide a baseline measurement of how we are meeting the code and the areas which need to
be improved upon.

Overall trustees awarded an 'B' which is'Moving beyond competence: starting to think
beyond compliance and good practice to best praetiee,' The highest scoring principles
were the Foundation Principle and Integrity both scoring 9, The lowest scoring principles were
Decision-making, risk and control and Diversity both scoring 7. The results have been collated
into an action plan which is monitored through the Appointments & Governance Committee, The
results will influence a wider Board Effectiveness programme in 2OI9, led by an external
facilitator. We will repeat the exercise in December 2019 and record any change,

4. Serious Incidents

No serious incidents occurred in 2018,

Our Serious Incident Policy has been updated to reflect the updated guidelines from the Charity
Commission in October 2018.

5. Remuneration

The pay and remuneration of the key management is set out in note Bb to the accounts. The
principles are set out in the Setting Chief Executive and Executive Director Remuneration policy,
approved by the Remuneration Committee. This committee is chaired by the Chair of the Board
of Trustees.

The principles used when determining the pay and remuneration are:
. To pay a fair salary, sufficient to attract and retain skilled, expert senior leaders of the charity.
. Salaries and benefits should be competitive, proportionate to the complexity of each role and

reflect the range of responsibilities,
. The Chief Executive and Executive Directors will have an annual appraisal. Whilst maintaining

confidentiality any noteworthy considerations that would impact on pay should be brought
to the Remuneration Committee's attention by either the CEO (Executive Directors) or Chair
(Chief Executive).

. Research will be made available to inform the Remuneration Committee on market rates,
trends and comparative data from a variety of sources to ensure relevance to each role,

When determining pay a number of considerations are
exhaustive:

. Charity Sector Comparisons

. Health Sector comparisons - both private and NHS

. National organisations and companies

. Profession comparisons (e,9. Finance, IT)

. Location and ability to recruit and retain

. Value placed on skills, knowledge and experience

necessaryf for example, but not

All Trustees gave their time voluntarily and they received no benefit from the' charity. Any
expenses reclaimed from the charity are set out in Note Bc to the accounts,
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Trustees

The trustees are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in

accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under
that law the trustees have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law).

Under company law the trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and
group, and of the result of the charitable company and group for that year.

In preparing these financial statements, the trustees are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
r observe the principles in the Charities SORP;
. make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
. state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any

material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to

presume that the charitable company will continue in business.

The trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show
and explain the charity and Subsidiary's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the charity and subsidiary and enable them to ensure that the
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

So far as each of the trustees is aware at the time the report is approved:

. there is no relevant audit information of which the group's auditors are unaware; and

. the trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that
information.

Auditors

A Value for Money exercise was completed in 2018 in order to determine whether the charity
was gaining value for money as well as to ensure an appropriate level of scrutiny and
independence. Following this Crowe U,K, LLP were appointed as auditors by the Board of
trustees in September 2018.

A resolution to reappoint Crowe U.K. LLP as auditors will be proposed at the annual accounts
meeting.

Signed for and on behalf of the trustees on &7 rn^l A () ( 
?J

Catheri Tompkins
Chair of the Board of Trustees
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Trustees of Royal Osteoporosis Society

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Royal Osteoporosis Society for the year ended 31
December 2018 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities, the Charity
Statement of Financial Activities, the Consolidated and Charity Balance Sheets, the Consolidated
and Charity Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

r give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and the charitable company's affairs
as at 31 December 2018 and of the group's incoming resources and application of
resources/ including its income and expenditure for the year then ended;

. have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice; and

. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the
Charities Act 2011 and the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and
Regulations 6 and B of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (amended).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK))
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK)
require us to report to you where:

the trustees'use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or
the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the group's or the charitable company's
ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least
twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue,

Other information

The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report/ other than the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

a
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit:

. the information given in the trustees'report, which includes the directors'report prepared
for the purposes of company law, for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

. the directors'report included within the trustees'report have been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the charitable company and their
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements
in the directors' report included within the trustees' report,

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies
Act 2006 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 require us to report to you if,
in our opinion:

adequate and proper accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns;
or

certain disclosures of trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees

As explained more fully in the trustees' responsibilities statement set out on page 30, the
trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company forthe purposes of company law)
are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fairview, and for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the group's or
the charitable company's ability to continue as a going concern/ disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees
either intend to liquidate the charitable company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

a
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Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financiar statements

We have been appointed as auditor under section 151 of the Charities Act zoIL, and section
aaQ)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and under the Companies
Act 2006 and report in accordance with the Acts and relevant regulations made or having effect
thereunder.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on
the Financial Reporting Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor's report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the charitable company's trustees, as a body, in accordance with
Part 4 of the Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2OOB and Regulation 10 of the
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the charitable company's trustees those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charitable company and the
charitable company's trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

O^["
Guy Biggin

Sen ior Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of

Crowe U.K. LLP

Statutory Auditor

Carrick House
Lypiatt Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GLsO 2QJ

Id )€ 2ota
Date

Crowe U.K. LLP is eligible for appointment as auditor of the charity by virtue of its eligibility for appointment as auditor of a company
under section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006
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R.OYAt OSTEOPOR.OSIS SOEIETY

COFISOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL AETIVITIES
(incorporating an income and expenditure account)

FOR THE YEAR EI{DED 31 DEEEMBER 2OT.8

Note

lncome and endowments from:

Donations and legacies
Other trading activities
lnvestments

Ch aritable activities:
Education and awareness

Other income

Total

Expenditure on

Raising funds
Costs of generating voluntarY
funds
Fundraising Trading: costs of
goods sold and other costs

Charitable activities
Services to members, support
Groups and the general public
Communications & Policy
Education and lnformation
Provision
Research

Total

Net expenditure
before other recognised
gains/(losses)

Net (losses)/gains on investments '10

Net expenditure

Total funds brought forward
Funds Transfer in year

Total funds carried forward

Unrestricted
Designated General

f€

3,769,107
93,475
91,644

Restricted

162,874

162,874

85,1 91

149,814
1BB,826

(260,e57)

495,973

326,462
114,766

91,670
2,348

1,450,325
733,633

1,554,230
39,276

1,861,978
848,399

1,795,714
230,450

f

Total
2018

f

3,931,981
93,475
sl,644

Total
2017

€

4,146,450
78,314
95,412

2a
3a

4a 448,908

4,403,143 4,566,017 4,367,906

115,268 919,524 1,034,792 892,228

3,334 60,141 63,475 82,175

I

448,908

I

40,1 B5

7,545

1,690,212
707,268

1,462,331
18,137

(368,508)

6,745,673

5

6a 423,831 653,848 4,757,129 5,834,808 4,852,351

7a (260,957) (653,848) (353,980) (1,268,791) (484,445)

(177 ,481) (177 ,481) 115,937

(653,848) (531,467) (1,446,272)

6,377,1654,028,W5- 1,853,117
(470,117) 470,117

235,016 2,904,110 1,791,767 4,930,893 6,377,165

There were no other recognised gains or losses other than those stated above. The notes on pages 38 to 59 form

part of these financial statements. Full comparatives for the year to 31 December 2018 are shown in note 22a.
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R.OYAL OSTEOPOR.OSIS SOEIETY

EHARITY STATEMENIT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
(incorporating an income and expenditure aceount)

FORTHE YEAR. ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

Note

4b

5

Restricted

162,974

162,874

85,1 91

149,814
1BB,826

(260,e57)

495,973

1,278,908
39,211

82,290

60,430

1,860,139 1

847,284
1

1,520,392
230,385

,690,202
707,262
,458,536

19,137
91,670
2,348

4,028,075
(470,117)

f

Unrestricted
Designated General

[€

3,769,107
94,358
91,522

82,290

60,430

326,462
114,766

1,448,495
732,518

4,097,707 4,260,581 4,329,141

115,268 918,351 1,033,619 892,222

3,334 50,346 53,690 31,100

Total
2018

f

3,931,981
94,358
91,522

Total
2017

I

4,146,450
25,961
95,402

lncome and endowments from

Donations and legacies
Other trading activities
lnvestments

Ch aritable activities:
Education and awareness

Other income

Total

Expenditure on:

Raising funds
Costs of generating voluntary
funds
Fundraising Trading: costs of
Goods sold and other costs

Charitable activities
Services to members, support
Groups and the general public
Communications & Policy
Education and Information
Provision
Research

2b
3b

40,248

21,080

Total

Net expenditure
before other recognised
gains/(losses)

Net gains/(losses) on investments 10

Net expenditure

Total funds brought forward
Funds Transfer in year

Total funds carried forward

6b 423,831 653,949 4,467,919 5,545,499 4,797,459

7b (260,957) (653,848) (370,112) (1,284,917) (468,318)

(177,481) (177,481) 115,937

(653,848) (547,593) (1,462,4]98)
f "l

6,39'3,2921,869,244
470,117

(352,381)

6,745,673

235,016 2,904,110 1,791,768 4,930,894 6,393,292

There were no other recognised gains or losses other than those stated above
The notes on pages 38 to 59 form part of these financial statements.
Full comparatives for the year to 31 December 2O1B are shown in note 22b.
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R.OYAL OSTEOPOROSIS SOCIETY

CONSOLIDATED BALAI{EE SFI EETS

AS AT 31 DEEEMBER 2018

eompany Number: 04995013

FIXED ASSETS
Fixed Assets
lnvestments

CURRENT ASSETS
Merchandise Stock
Debtors
Bank

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Creditors

NET CURRENT ASSETS

NET ASSETS

FUNDS
Restricted funds
Unrestricted funds
- Designated
- General

Notes

I
10

12

13

Group
2018

€

1,777,453
2,371,307

Charity
2018

f

1,777,453
2,371,308

Group
2017

e

1,828,245
3,496,372

Gharity
2017

€

1,828,245
3,496,373

4,148,760 4,148,761 5,324,617 5,324,618

4,056
754,443
774,133

1,583
854,211
545,582

9,543
B46,604
645,096

1,74s
890,572
619,798

1,532,632 1,401,376 1,501,243 1,512,119

14 150.499) rc1e.243\ (448.695) U43A45\

792,133 782,133 1.052,548 1,068,674

17 4,930,893 4,930,894 6,377,165 6,393,292

16 235,016 235,016 495,973 495,973

16

16

2,904,110
1,791,767

2,904,110
1,791,768

4,029,075
1,853,117

4,028,075
1,869,244

TOTAL FUNDS 4,930,893 4,930,894 6,377,165 6,393,292

The notes on pages 38 to 59 form part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board the Trustees on e7 4V A o( ?
and were signed below on its behalf by: ,/

e Tompkins Frances Grigg
TreasurerChair of Trustees
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ROYAT OSTEOPOR.OSIS SOEIETY

EONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

Notes

a (896,613) (796,994)

2018
f

91,644
(13,579)

(1,087,962)
2,035,547

2017
f

95,412
(15,339)

(1,772,826)
1,269,006

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends and interest
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from the sale of investments

Net cash provided/(used in) provided by investing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period

Gash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period

NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO NET
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net (expenditure) for the year
Depreciation charges
Decrease in stock
Decrease /(increase) in debtors
lncrease/(decrease) in creditors
lnterest and Dividends
Losses /(Gains) on investments

Net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities

b. ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and in hand

b

1,025,650 (423,747)

129,037 (1,220,741)

645,096 1,865,837

774,133 645,096

a, 2018
t

2017
€

2017
g

(1,446,272)
64,371

5,487
92,160

301,804
(91,644)
177,481

(368,508)
60,893

7,063
(141,233)
(143,860)

(95,412)
(115,937)

(896,613) (796,994)

2018
f

774,133 645,096
:
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R.OYAL OSTEOPOROSIS SOCIETY

NOTES TO THE FIIqANEIAT STATEMENTS
FOR. THE YEAR ENDED 3I. DECEMBER 2018

T.. ACCOUNTING POLIEIES

a) Basis of Accounting
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as

modified by the revaluation of investments and in accordance with Accounting and
Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities
preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in

the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015) - (Charities SORP
(FRS102)), the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland
(FRS102) and the Companies Act 2006.

The Royal Osteoporosis Society meets the definition of a public benefit entity under
FRS102.

These financial statements consolidate the results of the charitable company including the
regional support groups and the ROS Trading Company Limited on a line by line basis.

Preparation of Accounts on a Going Concern Basis
The trustees consider there are no material uncertainties about the Charity's ability to
continue as a going concern, The review of our financial position, reserves levels and
future plans gives Trustees confidence the Charity remains a going concern for the
foreseeable future.

The principal accounting policies and estimation techniques are as follows.

b) Voluntary Income
Voluntary income received by way of subscriptions, donations and gifts to the Charity is

included in full in the statement of financial activities when receivable. Volunteer time is
not included in the financial statements.

c) Grants
Grants payable are included in the statement of financial activities in the year in which they
are committed,

d) Income
Income from legacies is accounted for on a receivable basis, and is recognised in full in the
financial statements in the period in which entitlement to the legacy is established and
where the amount can be reliably ascertained, An adjustment is made to include legacy
receipts up to the end of April which relate to probate notifications for the financial year or
ea rlien

Income generated from the supply of goods or services, including conferences, is included
in the statement of financial activities in the period in which the supply is made.

e) Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised in the period in which the liability is incurred, Expenditure
includes attributable VAT which cannot be recovered.

Expenditure is allocated to the particular activity where the cost relates directly to that
activity. Howeveq the cost of overall direction and administration of each activity,
comprising the salary and overhead costs of the central function (support costs), is
apportioned to each activity using an estimate based on staff numbers. Details of the
support cost allocation is highlighted in note 6.
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R.OYAL CISTEOPOROSIS SOEIETY

NOTES TO THE FII{ANCIAI STATEMENTS (eontinued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3I. DEEEMBER 2OT.8

1. AeeOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

f) Governance
Governance costs are the costs associated with the governance arrangements of the society.
These costs are associated with constitutional and statutory requirements and include any
costs associated with the strategic management of the society's activities.

g) Funds
The costs of generating funds relate to the costs incurred by the group and society in raising
funds for the charitable work.

Fundraising and publicity costs represent staff costs, Iegal costs and associated office and
administrative costs in connection with fundraising events and publications aimed at donors
and the general public. Costs associated with publications aimed at beneficiaries, which
further the objects of the society, are included as part of the costs of the activity to which
they relate.

h) Depreciation
Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write down the cost of each asset to its
estimated residual value over its expected useful life. The depreciation rates in use are as
follows:

Freehold buildings
Office furniture and equipment

2olo straight line
25olo straight line

No depreciation is provided on land

Items of equipment are capitalised where the purchase price exceeds f500, Depreciation
costs are allocated to activities on the basis of the use of the related assets in those activities.
Assets are reviewed for impairment if circumstances indicate their carrying value may exceed
their net realisable value and value in use.

i) Restricted Funds
Restricted funds are to be used for specified purposes as laid down by the donor. Expenditure
which meets these criteria is allocated to the fund.

i) Unrestricted Funds
Unrestricted funds are donations and other income received or generated for the charitable
purposes,

k) Designated Funds
Designated funds are unrestricted funds earmarked by the Trustees for particular purposes

r) Rental
Rentals payable under operating leases, where substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership remain with the lessol are charged to the statement of financial activities in the
year in which they fall due,

m) Investments
Investments held as fixed assets are revalued at mid-market value at the balance sheet date,
The gain or loss for the period is taken to the statement of financial activities.
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R.OYAL OSTEOPCIR.OSIS SOEIETY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STIITEMEI{TS (eontinued)

FOR TI{E YEI\R EI{DED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

1. ACCOUNTINGPOLICIES(eontinued)

n) Financiallnstruments
The Society only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic
financial instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value
and subsequently measured at their settlement value,

o) Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, being the estimated selling
price less costs to complete and sell. Cost is based on the cost of purchase on a first in, first
out basis. At each balance sheet date, stocks are assessed for impairment, If stock is
impaired, the carrying amount is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell.
The impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

p) Cash at Bank and in Hand
Cash at bank and cash in hand includes cash and short term highly liquid investments with a
short maturity.

q) Debtors
Short term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment. Loans receivable
are measured initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

r) Creditors
Short term creditors are measured at the transaction price. Other financial liabilities, including
bank loans/ are measured initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

s) Pension Scheme
The society operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are
heldseparatelyfromthoseoftheCharityinanindependentlyadministeredfund. Thepension
cost charge represents contributions payable undgr the scheme by the Charity to the fund.
The society has no liability under the scheme other than for the payment of those
contributions. For defined contribution schemes the amount charged to the SOFA in respect
of pension costs and other post-retirement benefits is the contributions payable in the year;
allocated between activities and to unrestricted and restricted funds on the same basis as
other employee-related costs. Differences between contributions payable in the year and
contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet.

t) Critical Judgements and Estimates
In the application of the accounting policies, the Trustees are required to make judgements,
estimates, and assumptions about the carrying value of assets and Iiabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. These judgements, estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant, Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis, In accordance with
accounting standards, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which
the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects current and future periods.

in the view of the Trustees, there are no areas of judgement or estimation uncertainty at the
balance sheet date which are Iikely to result in a material adjustment to the carrying value of
assets or liabilities within the next financial year.
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R.OYAL OSTEOPOROSIS SOEIETY

NOTES TO TI{E FINANCIAI STATEMENTS (eontinued)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER.2OlB

2a" DONATIONS AND LEGACIES -
CONSOLIDATED

Donations Received at Head Office
Donations Received by Support Groups
Legacies
Fundraising Events
Membership Subscriptions and donations

DONATIONS AND LEGACIES -
CHARITY

Donations Received at Head Office
Donations Received by Support Groups
Legacies
Fundraising Events
Membership Subscriptions and donations

OTHER TRADING ACTIVITIES .
CONSOLIDATED

Advertising
Corporate Trading lncome
Merchandise Sales
Property lncome

OTHER TRADING ACTIVITIES -
CHARITY

Advertising
Corporate Trading Income
Merchandise Sales

162,874 3,769,107 3,931,981 4,146,450

Restricted
f

152,674

1,500
8,700

Restricted
e

152,674

Unrestricted
f

Total 2018
f

801,686
1 1 ,159

2,116,673
405,663
596,800

Total 2018
€

Total2O17
E

868,787
23,632

1,929,811
892,993
431,227

Total 2017
f

86B,787
23,632

1,929,811
892,993
431,227

Total2Ol7
f

24,055
25,700
24,427
4,132

Total2017
€

24,055
1,669

237

649,012
1 1 ,'159

2,115,173
396,963
596,800

2b.

3a.

3b

1,500
8,700

Unrestricted
€

649,012
11,159

2,115,173
396,963
596,800

Unrestricted
f

19,013
64,169
10,293

Unrestricted
f

19,013
75,099

246

801,686
1 1 ,159

2,116,673
405,663
596,800

162,974 3,769,107 3,931,981 4,146,450

Restricted

I
Total 2018

g

19,013
64,169
10,293

Total 2018
g

19,013
75,099

246

93,475 93,475 78,314

Restricted
f

94,358 25,961
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ROYAL OSTEOPOR.OSIS SOCIETY

ITOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STI\TEMENTS (eontinued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

4a EDUCATION AND AWARENESS .
GONSOLIDATED Restricted

I

Conference
Training

4b, EDUCATION AND AWARENESS -
CHARITY Restricted

€

Training

5, RESEARCH

Staff costs of managing grant making from Unrestricted Funds
Direct and allocated expenditure from Restricted Funds
Research grants in year
Allocated support costs from Unrestricted Funds
Research accrual overstated from previous years
2018 Bursaries

South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Guys & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
Oxford University
Birmingham University
Sheffield University
Bristol University

448,908 448,908 40,185

Unrestricted
e

366,618
82,290

Unrestricted
€

Total 2018
t

366,618
82,290

Total 2018
g

2018
€

Total 2017
f

(63)

40,248

82,290 82,290 40,248

82,290 82,290 40,248

2018
f

6,005
22,091

3,636

24,272

Total 2017
f

2017
€

14,911

5,276
(2,050)

2017
f

1,290

18,643
18,523
38,451
11,704

25,980
13,905

174,970
9,411

(52)
7,236

230,450 18,137

f56,004 expenditure was incurred against grants made in previous accounting periods and was allocated
against the carried forward accrual. Further information is included on page 13.

Research costs for 2018 were t230,450 (2017 f18,137) for the Consolidated accounts compared to
f230,385 (2017: f 18,137) for the charity only. This difference is due to the allocation of support costs.

An analysis of the expenditure is below:

EXPENDITURE

56,004 88,611

The total of the 20'18 Research grants round was f.174,970. Details of the amounts awarded are included
on page 15 of the Trustees Report along with the grant making policy.
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R.OYAI OSTEOPOROSIS SOEIETY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMEI{TS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR. ENDED 3I. DEEEMBER. 2018

6c TOTAL EXPENDITURE - CONSOLIDATED

Total support costs were f283,788 (4.86% of total expenditure) compared to f209,176in2017 (4.31% of
total expenditure). These costs have been allocated to each activity based on estimated staff numbers as
follows:

6d TOTAL EXPENDITURE. CHARITY

Total support costs were €283,432 (5.11o/o of total expenditure) compared to f209,091 in 2017 (4.36% of
total expenditure). These costs have been allocated to each activity based on estimated staff numbers
as follows:

Costs of generating funds
Services to members, support groups and the general public
Communications and Policy
Education and lnformation provision
Research

Costs of generating funds
Services to members, support groups and the general public
Communications and Policy
Education and lnformation provision
Research

7a NET MOVEMENT lN FUNDS - GONSOLIDATED

This is stated after charging/crediting:
lnterest and bank charges payable
Depreciation
Trustees' reimbursed expenses
Auditors remuneration:
-Audit - charity excluding VAT
- Audit - trading company excluding VAT
- Non Audit Services - trading company exclVAT
Operating lease rentals:
- Equipment

7b NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS - CHARITY

This is stated after chargingicrediting
lnterest and bank charges payable
Depreciation
Trustees' reimbursed expenses
Auditors remuneration :

- Audit * charity excluding VAT
Operating lease rentals:
- Equipment

2018

19.8%
28.8%
17.5%
32.8%

1.0%

2018

19.8%
28.B%
17.5o/o

32.8%
1.0%

2018
I

26,057
64,371

5,258

2017

19.8%
29.9%
17.5%
32.3%
0.5%

2017

19.2%
30.1Yo
17.7o/o
32.50/o

O.5o/o

2017
€

45,799
60,893

6,892

4,321 4,321
:

14,400
2,100

950

2018
€

37,1 63
64,371

5,258

16,000
2,675

950

2017
f

42,728
60,893

6,882

14,400 16,000
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R.OYAI CISTEOPOR.OSIS SOCIETY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

8a STAFF GOSTS & NUMBERS - CONSOLIDATED

Staff costs were as follows:
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Pension contributions

Total staff costs

8b STAFF COSTS & NUMBERS - GHARITY

Staff costs were as follows:
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Pension contributions

Total staff costs

. Chief Executive

. Clinical Director

. Corporate Services Director

. Finance Director

. Fundraising & Communications Director

. Service Delivery Director

. Strategic Development Director

Salaries including Employers National lnsurance
Pension

3,388,450 3,105,649

2018
f

2,842,659
271,700
274,091

2017
€

2,616,082
245,796
243,771

2017
f

2,600,341
244,462
242,669

2018
f

2,842,483
271,700
274,080

3,388,263 3,087,472

The key management personnel comprise the Executive Team and is made up of the following positions

within the organisation. As some of the positions are part time, included below are details of their whole
time equivalents (WTE):

WTE
1.0

1.0

1.0

0.67
1.0

0.73
0.80
6.20

From October 2018, Clinical & Service Delivery Director posts were combined to one, Clinical &

Operations post.

The total remuneration, benefits and pensions paid to them in the year was

Total

2018
t

528,863
62,075

590,938

2017
f

509,414
56,931

566,345
:

Whole time equivalent
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ROYAL OSTEOPOROSIS SOEIETY

NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (eontinued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 201A

8c STAFF COSTS AND NUMBERS (continued)

The average estimated number of employees during the year was

Fundraising
Services to members and general public
Communications and Policy
Education and Information Provision

Research
Support and governance

The emoluments of higher paid employees fell within the following ranges:

13
19
11

20

4

*

13
19
11

22
1

4

70:

2018
No.

2018
No.

2017
No.

2017
No.

€60,001 - f70,000
€70,001 - f80,000
f80,001 - [90,000
f100,001 - f110,000

The average total number of staff employed in the period was 69.5 (2017:66.8) including average full time
staff of 40.9 (2017:43.0) and part time staff of 28.6 (2017:23.8).

All other staff numbers are the same for both the Gharity and Consolidated accounts.

During the year reimbursed travel expenses amounting to f5,258 (2017: f6,BB2) were paid to 7 Trustees.
(2017:7)

Total donations of f511 were received from Trustees in the year (2017:837).

All Trustees of the Charity give their time voluntarily and contribute towards all aspects of the Charity's
operations.

The Charity is also reliant on the support provided by its volunteer base. ln accordance with the Charities
SORP (FRS 102) the economic value of this support is not included in these financial statements.

1

1

1

2
1

1
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R.OYAL OSTEOPOROSIS SOEIETY

NOTES TO THE FII{ANCIAL STATEMEI{TS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3T DEEEMBER 2018

9" TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

GROUP

Gost
At beginning of the year
Additions

Asat31 December20lB

Depreciation
At beginning of the year
Depreciation

Asat31 December20lB

Net Book Value

As at31 December20lB

As at31 December2017

GHARITY

Cost
At beginning of the year
Additions

As at31 December2018

Depreciation
At beginning of the year

Depreciation

As at 31 December 2018

Net Book Value

As at 31 December 2018

As at 31 December 2017

1,662,609 725,198

^ Building
lmprovements

f

331,827
33,253

331,827
33,253

Land &
Buildings

g.

264,477
11,504

264,477
11,504

Equipment
f

358,073
13,579

Total
f

2,745,880
13,579

1,662,609 725,198 371,652 2,759,459

365,080 275,981 340,945 982,006

1,297,529 449,217 30,707 1,777,453

321,331
19,614

917,635
64,371

2,745,880
13,579

917,635
64,371

1,330,782 460,721 36,742 1,828,245

1,662,609 725,198

1,662,609 725,198 371,652 2,759,459

359,073
13,579

321,331
19,614

365,080 275,981 340,945 982,006

1,297,529 449,217 30,707 1,777 ,453

1,330,782 460,721 36,742 1,828,245
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ROYAT OSTEOPOROSIS SOEIETY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

10. INVESTMENTS

Listed investments
Market value at the start of the
year
Additions at historic cost
Disposals
(Losses)/gains on investments

Market value at the end of the year
Other investments
Capital Account HSBC Global
Asset Management Ltd
Equity investment in group
undertaking
ROS Trading Company Limited

Total lnvestments

2,248,838 2,249,938 3,339,946 3,339,846

122,469 122,469 156,526 156,526

2,371,307 2,3713A9 3,496,372 3,496,373

Group
2018

€

3,339,846
1,122,020

(2,035,547)
(177,481)

Charity
2018

€

3,339,846
1,122,020

(2,035,547)
(177,481)

Group
2017

E

2,776,250
1,716,665

(1,269,006)
115,937

2018
f

Charity
2017

f

2,776,250
1,716,665

(1,269,006)
115,937

2017

f

1,981,355

1,004,313

354,178

3,339,846

156,526

224,843
231,463

361,782

277,113

206,772

301,390

I1

Historic cost at the year end

lnvestments comprise:

Equities & Funds

Fixed lncome

Alternative I nvestments

Capital Account HSBC Global Asset Management Ltd

Total lnvestments - Group
Short Term investments held for future activities

Investments representing over 5% by value of the portfolio

Charities Property Fund

HSBC Asset Mgt Common for Income
HSBC GlobalAsset Mgt Common for Growth

HSBC Global lnvestment Funds GlobalGorporate Bonds
HSBC Global lnvestment Funds Global Emerging Markets
HSBC lndex Tracker Investment Funds - FTSE All Share lndex
iShares Corse MSC|World UCITS ETF

HSBC lndex Tracker lnvestment Funds - FTSE All World lndex

1,215,834 3,160,201

1,291,157

1 ,080, 1 50

3,496,372

2,371,307 3,496,372

764,882
275,193
128,613

1,168,688

122,46s

112,469

80,383

158,937

104,214

104,749
130,546

_rr,o,u
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R.OYAL OSTECIPOR.OSIS SOEIETY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMEI{TS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR. ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

11. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

The Royal Osteoporosis Society has one, wholly owned, subsidiary company (Registration number
07033698)

The ROS Trading Company Limited's principal activity is to organise conferences, arrange sponsorship and
sell sundry items to procure profits and gains for the purposes of paying them to the Royal Osteoporosis
Society.

A summary of its results for the year ended 31 December 2018 is shown below:

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Administrative expenses

Operating profit / (loss)

lnterest receivable

Profit /(Loss) on ordinary activities

Gift aid to parent undertaking

Retained profit / (loss) carried forward

The aggregate of the assets, liabilities and funds was:

Assets
Liabilities

Funds

12. DEBTORS Group
2018

t

Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments
Due from trading subsidiary

72,140
597,338

84,965

Charity
2018

€

11,738
593,984

63,1 40
185,349

2018
f

395,679
(343,164)

52,515

(6,568)

45,947

122

46,069

29,943

316,603
(316,603)

Group
2017

€

13,102
740,945

92,557

2017
f

52,290
(43,553)

8,737

(24,873)

(1 6,1 36)

10

(1 6,1 26)

(16,126)

76,385
(e2,510)

(16,125)

Gharity
2017

I

13,102
730,206

60,004
87,260

754,443Total
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R.OYAL OSTEOPOROSIS SOEIETY

I{OTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

13. GASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

Head office
Support groups

Total

14. CREDITORS

Trade creditors
Taxation & social security
Other creditors
Accruals

Total

15. FINANGIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets measured at
amortised cost
Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost

774,133 545,582 645,096 619,798

Group
2018

f,

653,145
120,988

Group
2018

f

274,446
79,182
29,715

367,156

Group
2018

€

1,443,611

(671,317)

Charity
2018

€

424,594
120,988

Group
2017

f

505,942
1 39,1 54

Group
2017

I

145,996
60,727
24,481

217,491

Group
2017

E

1,479,890

(387,968)

Gharity
2017

I

480,644
1 39,1 54

Charity
2017

f

145,521
60,727
24,481

212,716

Gharity
2017

€

1,450,366

(382,718)

Gharity
2018

€

184,975
' 68,927

29,715
335,626

750,499 619,243 448,695 443,445

Charity
2018

€

1,336,653

(550,316)
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ROYAL OSTEOPOR.CISTS SOEIETY

NOTES TCI THE FINANeIAt STI\TEMEI{TS (eontinued)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

16a. MOVEMENT lN FUNDS - GONSOLIDATED

At
I January

2018
f

Restricted funds
Care
Support
Cure

Total restricted funds 495,973 162,874 (423,831) 235,016

207,808
46,823

241,342

Transfers
€

6,000
(6,000)

1,701
(259,309)
(130,974)

88,679
(170,214)

lncome
f

Expenditure
t

At
3{ December

2018
E

105,689
52,750
76,577

1,753,041
64,331

110,406
91,828

394,718
489,786

Unrestricted funds

Designated funds
Camerton Building
Prevention
Care
Support
Cure
Future activities

1,841,503
159,839
534,838
413,398
418,497
660,000

40,270
98,543
24,061

(148,389)
(86,616)

(188,826)

(88,462)
(e7,20e)

(1 65,1 23)
(190,596)
(112,458)

Tbtal designated funds 4,028,075

1,853,117General funds

Total unrestrieted funds 5,881,192

Total funds 6,377,165

(470,117) - (653,848)

470,117 4,225,662 (4,757,129)

2,904,110

1,791,767

4,225,662 (5,410,977) 4,695,877

4,388,536 (5,834,808) 4,930,893

As described in more detail on page 22, in 2017 the Charity completed a review of its Strategic Direction
which now incorporates four goals: Prevention, Care, Support and Cure. ln2017, Trustees approved the
creation of designated funds in order to progress business cases which are developed in line with the new
Strategic Direction. This included f660,000 set aside in2017 in order to progress future activities across
the four goals over the next five years. Any new or amended business cases are reviewed by the Executive
Team and referred to the Finance, General Purposes and Audit Committee (FGP&A) for formal approval
and oversight prior to being designated. During 2018, a reallocation ol f170,214 was approved by FGP&A
and transferred from Future activities to Cure in order to initiate the work of the new Osteoporosis and Bone
Research Academy.

ln addition to the funds set aside for Prevention, Care, Support and Cure there is also a designation fund
for the Camerton building. This reflects the net book value of the building as well as a building fund set
aside for any required major maintenance works.

Corporate activities support the Charity's four goals and so any related funds have been allocated to
Prevention, Care, Support and Cure on an equal basis.
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R.OYAL OSTEOPOROSIS SOEIETY

I{OTES TO THE FII{ANCIAL STATEMENTS (eontinued)

FOR THE YEAR ENIDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

16a. MOVEMENT lN FUNDS - CONSOLIDATED (PRloR YEAR)

Restricted funds
Care
Support
Cure

Total restricted funds

Unrestricted funds

Designated funds
Camerton Building
Prevention
Care
Support
Cure
Future activities

Total designated funds

Generalfunds

At
1 January

2017
f

221,236
21,121

206,585

448,942

1,836,259
31,727

1,732,058
312,526
324,727

Transfers
t

(1,408,047i

(34,342)

lneome
g

Expenditure
I

At
31 December

2017
f

207,808
46,823

241,342

1,841,503
159,839
534,838
413,398
418,497
660,000

4,028,075

1,853,117

420,755 (373,724) 495,973

288,044
100,004

32,707

50,000
170,000
415,000
265,000
170,000
660,000

1,730,000

2,333,088

(301,472)
(74,302)

2,050

(44,756)
(41,888)

(204,173)
(164,128)

(41,888)

(496,833)

(3,981,794)

4,237,297 (1,442,389)

2,059,434 1,442,389

Total unrestricted funds 6,296,731

Total funds 6,745,673

4,063,088 (4,478,627) 5,981,192

4,483,843 (4,852,351) 6,377 ,165

53 of 59



ROYAL OSTEOPORCISIS SOEIETY

NOTES TO THE FINAI{CIAL STATEMENTS (eontinued)

FOR THE YEI\R. ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

16b. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS - CHARITY

Restricted funds
Care
Support
Cure

Total restricted funds

Unrestricted funds

Designated funds
Camerton Building
Prevention
Care
Support
Cure
Future activities

Total designated funds

Generalfunds

At
1 January

2018
E

207,B0B
46,823

241,342

495,973

1,B41,503
159,839
534,838
413,398
418,497
660,000

4,028,075

1,869,244

Transfers
t

6,000
(6,000)

40,270
98,543
24,061

1,701
(259,309)
(130,974)

88,679
(170,214)

(470,117)

470,117 3,920,226

lncome Expenditure
€f

162,874 (423,831) 235,016

(148,389)
(86,616)

(188,826)

(88,462)
(97,209)

(165,123)
(190,596)
(112,458)

(653,848)

(4,467,819)

At
31 December

2018
f

105,689
52,750
76,577

1,753,041
64,331

ra,406
91,828

394,718
489,786

2,904,110

Totalunrestrictedfunds 5,897,319

Total funds 6,393,292

1,791,768

3,920,226 (5,121,667) 4,695,878

4,093,100 (5,545,498) 4,930,894
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ROYAT OSTEOPOR.OSIS SOEIETY

hIOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STI\TEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

17a ANALYSIS OF GROUP NET ASSETS
BETWEEN FUNDS _ CONSOLIDATED
2018

Tangible fixed assets
lnvestments
Current assets
Current liabilities

Net assets at the end of the year

17a ANALYSIS OF GROUP NET ASSETS
BETWEEN FUNDS - GONSOLIDATED
2017

Tangible fixed assets
lnvestments
Current assets
Current liabilities

Net assets at the end of the year

17b ANALYSIS OF GROUP NET ASSETS
BETWEEN FUNDS _ CHARITY 2018

Tangible fixed assets
lnvestments
Current assets
Current liabilities

Net assets at the end of the year

235,016

235,016 2,904,110 1,791,767 4,930,893

Restricted
Funds

f

Restricted
Funds

€

Restricted
Funds

€

Designated
Funds

€

1,746,746
665,209
492,155

Designated
Funds

€

1,791,503
1,231,302
1,005,270

Designated
Funds

€

1,746,747
665,208
492,155

General
Funds

E

30,707
1,706,098

805,461
(750,499)

General
Funds

€

General
Funds

€

30,706
1 ,706,100

674,205
(619,243)

Total
Funds

€

1,777 ,453
2,371,307
1,532,632
(750,499)

Total
Funds

f
1,828,245
3,496,372
1,501,243
(448,695)

Total
Funds

f
1,777,453
2,371,308
1,401,376
(619,243)

36,742
2,265,070

495,973
(448,695)

495,973 4,029,075 1,853,117 6,377,165

235,016

235,016 2,904,110 1,791,768 4,930,894
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R.OYAL OSTEOPOROSIS SOEIETY

I{OTES TO THE FINANCIAL STITTEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER. 2018

17b ANALYSIS OF GROUP NET ASSETS
BETWEEN FUNDS _ CHARITY 2017

Tangible fixed assets
lnvestments
Current assets
Current liabilities

Net assets at the end ofthe year

Due within 1 year
Duewithin2-5years

36,742
2,275,947

495,973
(443,445)

495,973 4,028,075 1,869,244 6,393,292

Restricted
Funds

€

Designated
Funds

f

1,791,503
1,220,426
1,016,146

General
Funds

f

4,193
3,116

Total
Funds

€

1,828,245
3,496,373
1,512,119
(443,445)

2017
I

3,937
7,054

18. RELATED PARTYTRANSACTIONS

As stated in note 11 to the financial statements, the charity has a wholly-owned subsidiary company - ROS
Trading Company Limited. Copies of the accounts can be requested from the registered office: ROS Trading
Company Limited, Camerton, Bath, BA2 OPJ.

During the year a management charge was made by Royal Osteoporosis Society to ROS Trading Company
Limited ol f60,422 (2017: f 13,535). At the end of year, gift aid of f29,944 (2017: nil) was payable to Royal
Osteoporosis Society by ROS Trading Company Limited. The total year-end balance owed to Royal
Osteoporosis Society was f 185,349 (2017: 887,260).

19. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The charity had commitments at the year-end under operating leases as follows:

Equipment
2018

f

7,309 10,991
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R.OYAI OSTEOPOROSIS SOEIETY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (eontinued)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2O1A

20. SUPPORT GROUPS

lncome from:
Donations
Mem bershi pifundraising events
Other income

Totalincome

Expenditure on:
Fundraising and publicity

Ch a ritab I e expe nd itu re
Costs in furtherance of charitable objects
Support costs

Total expenditure

Net (expenditure)/income

Total funds brought forward

Total funds carried forward

Restricted funds
Designated funds
Unrestricted funds

51,064 93,605

5,204 5,061

2018
t

9,796
29,000
13,268

56,782
7,244

(1 8,1 66)

1 39,1 55

2017
f

23,632
35,967
34,006

64,011
8,970

15,563

123,592

2017
f

69,230 78,042

120,989 139,155

ln 2018, 69 Royal Osteoporosis Society Support Groups met across the UK to share information, help
raise crucial funds and offer support to people with osteoporosis, their families and carers.

Support Groups follow the 'Support Group Policy' of the Royal Osteoporosis Society. The objectives of
the Groups are the same as those of the Royal Osteoporosis Society, and they operate under the same
Charity number and charitable status as the Royal Osteoporosis Society.

Costs in furtherance of charitable objects includes f.19,740 (2017 821 ,620) donations made to head office.
These amounts are adjusted against head office income on consolidation so that income for the Charity
as a whole is not overstated.

On consolidation the funds at the end of the year are shown as unrestricted as they cover the Charity's
core operations and objectives. However, within the Groups there are some restrictions and designations,
for example for geographical locations. The breakdown of the restrictions within groups is shown as
follows:

2018
f

12,147 14,142
24,258

100,755108,842

120,989 139,155Total funds
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ROYAL OSTEOPOROSIS SOEIETY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (eontinued)

FOR. TFIE YEAR. ENDED 31 DEEEMBER. 2018

21. CAPITALCOMMITMENTS

At 31 December 2018, there were Nil commitments for capital expenditure (2017: tNil)

22a COMPARATIVE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITY - CONSOLIDATED

Restricted Unrestricted
Note g. I

lncome and endowments from:

Donations and legacies
Other trading activities
lnvestments

Ch a ritab le activities :
Education and awareness

Other income

Total

Expenditure on

Raising funds
Costs of generating voluntary funds
Fundraising Trading: costs of goods
sold and other costs

Charitable activities
Services to members, support groups
and the general public
Communications & Policy
Education and Information Provision
Research

Total

Net income/(expenditu re)
before other recognised gains/(losses)

Net gains on investments

Net income/(expenditure)

Total funds brought forward

Total funds carried forward

6,000

420,755 3,947,151 4,367,906

2a
3a

4a

5

10

414,755

282,203
(2,050)

3,731,695
78,314
95,412

34,1 85

7,545

892,228

82,175

707,268
1,180,128

20,187

(531,476)

115,937

Total
2017

g

4,146,450
78,314
95,412

40,1 85

7,545

892,228

82,175

707,268
1,462,331

19,137

(484,445)

115,937

93,571 1,596,641 1,690,212

6a 373,724 4,478,627 4,852,351

7a 47,031

47 ,031 (415,539) (368,508)

448,942 6,296,731 6,745,673

495,973 5,981,192 6,377,165
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R.OYAI OSTEOPOROSIS SOEIETY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR. THE YEAR ENDED 31 DEEEMBER 2018

22b COMPARATIVE STATEMENT OF FINANGIAL ACTIVITY - CHARITY

lncome and endowments from

Donations and legacies
Other trading activities
Investments

Ch aritab le activities:
Education and awareness

Other income

Total

Expenditure on

Raising funds
Costs of generating voluntary funds
Fundraising Trading: costs of goods
sold and other costs

Charitable activities
Services to mernbers, support groups
and the general public
Communications & Policy
Education and lnformation Provision
Research

Total

Net income/(expenditure)
before other recogn ised gains/(losses)

Net gains on investments

Net income/(expenditure)

Total funds brought forward

Total funds carried forward

Restricted Unrestricted
fe

414,755 3,731,695
25,961
95,402

6,000 34,248

21,080

892,222

31,100

420,755 3,908,386 4,329,141

2b
3b

Note

4b

10

282,203
(2,050)

707,262
1,176,333

20,187

(515,349)

115,937

Total
2017

t

4,146,450
25,961
95,402

40,248

21,080

892,222

31,100

707,262
1,458,536

18,137

(468,318)

115,937

93,571 1,596,631 1,690,202

6b

5

373,724 4,423,735 4,797,459

7b 47,031

47,031 (399,412) (352,381)

448,942 6,296,731 6,745,673

495,973 5,897,319 6,393,292
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